RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

Supreme Court No. 94109. 2

Court of Appeals No. 74459-3

DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL MOCKOVAK,

Petitioner,

٧.

KING COUNTY and the KING COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE,

Respondents, and

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Intervenor/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James E. Lobsenz WSBA #8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215

Attorneys for Petitioner

ORIGINAL

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Michael Mockovak seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision rendered on December 19, 2016 (Appendix A). The Court denied motions for reconsideration and for publication on January 13, 2017 (Appendix B).

B. INTRODUCTION

The Public Records Act ("PRA") "is a 'strongly worded mandate' aimed at giving interested members of the public wide access to public documents to ensure governmental transparency." *Worthington v. WestNET*, 182 Wn.2d 500, 506, 341 P.3d 995 (2015). The PRA, RCW 42.56.030, expressly declares:

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created.

In this case, federal public servants have decided what is not good for the people to know about the operation of a joint federal and state task force. Federal public servants have not simply refused to produce records from their files, but also have instructed state public servants to refuse to produce their documents and to refuse to comply with a state-court subpoena.

The underlying records request seeks documents concerning promises or assistance provided to a Russian immigrant who served as an undercover informant. At his deposition in this PRA case, the Russian immigrant asserted his Fifth Amendment right not to answer questions about the basis for his original application for asylum, a fact that bears directly upon his motive to seek assistance from the federal government in exchange for his testimony in a state-court criminal proceeding against the Petitioner here. The scant documents that have been produced show that federal agents provided him with "victim assistance," even though he was an undercover informant and not a victim. The informant did confirm that he was granted citizenship *after* he testified at the criminal trial. The PRA requests seek documents to shed light on what the state public servants knew about any of this, when they knew it, and what role they played.

From the documents already produced, we know that federal public servants directed, during the operation of the task force, that the Seattle Police Department ("SPD") detective and the undercover informant should participate in secret recordings of private conversations. Under Washington State law, that conduct is criminal. Brushing that aside, a federal public servant simply completed a printed form to authorize "Otherwise Illegal Activity." The disputed PRA requests here seek to uncover what other illegal conduct state public servants knew about or participated in as part of the joint federal and state task force.

The appellate court concluded that the presence of the federal government is, under the Supremacy Clause, sufficient to shield from disclosure documents that state public servants possess — in this case the Seattle police detective possessed the documents until he handed them over to an unnamed attorney, presumably a federal attorney, while the PRA request was pending. The appellate court concluded that evasion of

the PRA was permissible because the Seattle police detective did so voluntarily. The concept of consent by the State actor is essential to the appellate court's decision, but rests upon the mistaken proposition that State public servants can consent to follow federal direction and thereby waive the public's right to know what the State public servants are doing.

The appellate court also concluded that information created by or shared with a joint federal and state task force becomes the property of the federal government, subject to its exclusive control, even if state public servants possess the documents or created them. There is no basis in law or logic for that conclusion. If that proposition were correct, a federal public servant could authorize state public servants to violate Washington State law, and then the federal public servant could determine that it is not good for the people to know about it.

This case deserves this Court's attention because it raises critical issues of government accountability by State public servants who participate in joint federal and state law enforcement task forces:

Some of the most basic and universal features of American police departments exist to facilitate political accountability Joint task forces do not share these accountability-promoting features . . . This muddling of responsibility is particularly troubling because joint law enforcement task forces commonly engage in precisely those activities that local jurisdictions might well restrict

R. Harmon, Federal Programs and the Real Costs of Policing, 90 N.Y.U.L. Rev. 870, 945-46 (2015). See also S. Herman, Collapsing Sphere: Joint Terrorism Task Forces, Federalism and the War on Terror, 41 Willamette Law Review 941, 941-42 (2005) (joint state and federal

task forces have "muddled the lines of authority and accountability that have characterized our dual sovereignty model of federalism.").

In *WestNET* this Court held that the statute that authorized local police departments to join such task forces did not exempt them from full compliance with the PRA. Because "the PRA explicitly subordinates all other statutes to its own provisions," the Interlocal Cooperation Act prohibits local police departments from using their membership in a joint task force as a way of avoiding its PRA obligations. *WestNET*, 182 Wn.2d at 510-11. Moreover, any provision of any interagency task force agreement that would "frustrate the purpose of the PRA" is unenforceable under RCW 39.34.030(5). *Id.* at 511.

In *WestNET* the record was "insufficiently developed" so this Court could not "tell . . . whether the [task force] arrangement frustrate[d] the PRA." *Id.* at 511. But in this case the record clearly shows that the purposes of the PRA were deliberately thwarted by the invocation of a federal regulation that on its face applies only to federal "employees." This case involves a federal command issued to a Seattle police detective who worked with an FBI agent on a case that was prosecuted in a Washington State court. The U.S. Attorney's Office ("USAO") forbade the detective from producing records requested under the PRA, ordered him not to appear for a deposition, and had him surrender public records in his possession to a federal attorney. According to the USAO, because the detective was a member of a joint federal/state task force, Washington State lost the power to regulate the records generated by the detective, and

the power to elicit testimony from him regarding those records.

In *WestNET* this Court recognized how easy it would be to use the form of a task force to defeat the public policy of political accountability that the PRA is designed to serve:

It is also conceivable that the affiliate agencies could use this [joint task force] arrangement to strategically move documents among the multiple agencies or that WestNET could even keep documents with those affiliate agencies that are not subject to the PRA . . . in which case the affiliate agencies could avoid their PRA obligations entirely.

WestNET, at 511. This case shows that this scenario is no longer simply "conceivable," it is real and it is happening.

Petitioner respectfully submits that the interrelated issues – both constitutional and non-constitutional – are of great public importance and should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. In a PRA case, does a local federal official have the power to prohibit a city police officer from producing records he created and used in the course of a joint federal/state investigation that culminated in a State-court criminal prosecution?

Subsidiary questions

- a. Under the Tenth Amendment, can a Seattle police detective or even the SPD "consent" to follow a federal public servant's direction not to comply with the PRA?
- b. Does a federal regulation governing the conduct of a Department of Justice ("DOJ") "employee" apply to a city police officer who is also sworn as a Special U.S. Deputy Marshal, even though the DOJ concedes that the police officer is not a federal "employee" as that term is defined

- by Congress in the statute that authorizes promulgation of regulations governing federal "employees"?
- c. Who owns a document created by a Seattle police detective who is a member of a joint task force that includes federal officers? Does the document belong to the federal government, the city government, or both? For purposes of the PRA, so long as it is clear that a document was used by a Seattle police officer for a governmental purpose, does the question of ownership matter?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that a records requester has the burden of producing evidence to show that requested records were *not* prepared in anticipation of litigation, and thus are not exempt as work product? Alternatively, is the burden on the agency to come forward with evidence that the records *were* prepared in anticipation of litigation, and that such a belief was objectively reasonable?
- 3. Does the "common interest" exception to waiver apply when one agency, which already has commenced a prosecution, thereafter discloses work product to a second prosecuting agency which has decided *not* to prosecute, and which has invoked its decision not to prosecute as a basis for refusing to produce exculpatory *Brady* information it possesses?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Mockovak made a PRA request to the King County Prosecuting Attorney ("KCPA") for records related to an investigation conducted by members of a joint task force (the Puget Sound Safe Streets Violent Crimes Task Force) composed of both state and federal law enforcement officers. *Op.* at 1. Two Task Force members, SPD Detective Leonard Carver and FBI Agent Larry Carr, worked together on the investigation. Carver was sworn in as a Special Deputy U.S. Marshal. In that capacity, he had the authority to investigate and arrest for violations of federal law as well as State law. *Id.* Their joint investigation

culminated with the filing of criminal charges against Mockovak in King County Superior Court.

The Task Force employed a Russian immigrant, Daniel Kultin, as a confidential informant. For several months, Kultin recorded his conversations with Mockovak without Mockovak's knowledge. Initially, Carver and Carr thought that the case they were building would be prosecuted in federal court. CP 1216. Knowing that the Washington Privacy Act made it a crime to record private conversation without the consent of all parties, they obtained the "permission" of an FBI official to violate Washington State law pursuant to the FBI's "Otherwise Illegal Activity" procedures. CP 1216.

Later, when they decided they might want the case prosecuted in state court, Detective Carver sought Superior Court approval to continue secretly recording Kultin's conversations with Mockovak. CP 1206-1223. In support of his request, Carver told the Superior Court that he was "familiar with all the files and records pertaining to this investigation" and he relied upon them in making his application for judicial authority to record these conversations. CP 1206-07.

Ultimately, the KCPA prosecuted Mockovak in state court. In his state court Certificate for Determination of Probable Cause, Carver again stated that he had reviewed the records contained in the Task Force's investigation file. CP 1199, 1204.

Four years later, in response to his PRA request, the KCPA produced heavily redacted records that included letters and emails sent

back and forth between State court prosecutors and federal attorneys employed by the USAO and the FBI. Detective Carver possessed additional records but at the direction of some unidentified lawyer, he did not produce them and turned them over instead to "the lawyer." CP 1201. Those records were not produced in any form — redacted or unredacted. Carver's documents never were tendered to the Superior Court for *in camera* review.

1. Informant Kultin's assertion of the Fifth Amendment raises the inference that he lied to obtain entry into the U.S. as an asylee, that he faced a risk of deportation, and that he had a powerful motive to curry favor with the federal government by participating in the criminal proceedings. Instead of deportation, Kultin was granted citizenship after the criminal trial concluded. The PRA requests here seek to uncover what the State public servants knew about this conduct, when they knew it, and what role they played in it.

After charging and prior to trial, both the KCPA and Mockovak's defense attorneys repeatedly asked the FBI and the USAO to provide them with *Brady* material regarding informant Kultin. CP 560, 566-67, 572-73, 577-78, 582-86, 593, 700-01, 706-07. In particular, they sought to discover whether joint task force agents or federal attorneys had led Kultin to expect assistance in obtaining citizenship or immunity from prosecution for violations of immigration law. CP 560, 566-67, 572-73. But the USAO flatly refused to produce anything. CP 577-78, 582-86, 588-89. An Assistant U.S. Attorney stated that Mockovak had no right to any discovery from the U.S. because "[t]the United States is not prosecuting Mockovak." CP 595.

Similarly, the KCPA tried to obtain the Task Force's investigative file on Kultin to ascertain what prompted the INS to arrest Kultin. The KCPA reported to Mockovak's attorneys that "the FBI had denied our requests for further information." CP 570. Detective Carver complained to the FBI, and predicted that such refusals would cause "serious problems." CP 725-26. He suggested that if task force documents could not be turned over to state prosecutors, then "the only other option, as I see it, is to ask the United States Attorney to file all bank robbery and other task force cases" CP 726.

In his Certificate of Probable Cause, Carver erroneously stated that Kultin was a U.S. citizen. CP 410, 421. A State court prosecutor later informed Mockovak's counsel that Kultin had once been the subject of an INS investigation, but did not disclose what the investigation was for or the fact that the INS had arrested him. CP 570. Nearly one year after Mockovak was charged, Carver informed the KCPA that Kultin was *not* a U.S. citizen. The KCPA then told Mockovak's counsel that Carver's prior statement was incorrect. CP 598. However, the KCPA never disclosed that Kultin either had a citizenship application pending when Mockovak's criminal trial started, or else he intended to file one as soon as he finished

I "As a Seattle police detective assigned to work cases on behalf of the FBI and Seattle police, I am concerned about future criminal filings . . . I anticipate serious problems as we go forward and wanted to bring them to your attention. . . . In State v. Mockovak, a murder-for-hire case, the prosecutor has submitted at least two Touhy letters, both of which have been denied. The Touhy requirement, as I see it, precludes a filing of formal charges in state court following an arrest, given the 72 hour mandated timeframe for prosecutors to file their charges. . . ."

testifying for the prosecution. See Br. of Appellant, at 7-22.

Although Kultin was never the victim of any crime, redacted documents show that the KCPA directed Kultin to a "Victim Specialist" employed by the FBI and told him to "expect her assistance." There was no disclosure of what kind of assistance was offered, sought, or actually obtained. CP 676, 678, 680, 682, 684. *See Br. of Appellant* at 22-28.

Mockovak's criminal trial took place in January and February of 2011. Five years later, Mockovak's counsel deposed Kultin in this PRA case. CP 466. When asked about his initial entry into the United States and his claim that he had faced persecution in Russia, Kultin repeatedly asserted the Fifth Amendment privilege. CP 484-85, 495-96. He refused to answer whether anyone in Russia had ever threatened him. CP 487. He said, "I have a feeling you're trying to make me guilty of something so I'm not going to answer this" CP 486. He said he could not remember if he had been granted asylee status. CP 495-96. In a civil case, it is permissible to draw an adverse inference from a witness' assertion of the Fifth Amendment privilege;² therefore, one can infer that Kultin obtained asylee status illegally. A person who obtains entry into the country or citizenship by means of fraud can be prosecuted, his citizenship can be revoked, and he can be deported.³ Kultin's vulnerability to deportation gave him an undisclosed motive to curry favor

² See Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308, 318 (1976) & Brief of Appellant, at 67-72.

³ See Knauer v. United States, 328 U.S. 654, 671-72 (1946).

with the state court prosecutors by incriminating Mockovak.⁴

At his PRA deposition, Kultin also testified that he *applied* for U.S. citizenship *after* the criminal trial ended. CP 491-92, 501-502. He also testified that he was *granted* citizenship sometime in 2011. *Id.* Thus, Kultin had another reason to curry favor with law enforcement and to incriminate Mockovak; by helping to convict Mockovak, he stood to please law enforcement officers who could then support his application for citizenship. *See Br. of Appellant* at 18-20, 23-26, & 65-66.

Kultin's deposition testimony also contradicted an FBI agent's report that Kultin told him he had a citizenship application much earlier in 2009. CP 533. Kultin denied that was true, insisting that it was not until 2011 that he applied for citizenship. CP 491-92, 501-02, 510-11.

2. Carver's initial willingness to appear for deposition; the USAO's subsequent direction not to appear, and Carver's surrender of documents he possessed to an unnamed attorney.

The Court of Appeals' held that the Tenth Amendment prohibition against controlling state officers comes into play only if a State officer objects to being told what to do by the federal government. *Op.* at 13-14. The appellate court assumed that neither the SPD nor Detective Carver objected to being told not to produce documents and not to testify, stating that "Carver acted pursuant to a consensual joint task force arrangement between the United States, Washington and the SPD." *Id.* at 16.

⁴This is *Brady* information that must be disclosed. *See, e.g., United States v. Blanco*, 392 F.3d 382 (9th Cir. 2004).

The record shows that the *only* party that objected to Carver's deposition was the USAO. A paralegal in the USAO sent a letter to Mockovak's counsel asserting that without DOJ permission Carver could not be deposed because he was a Task Force Officer. CP 1240-1241. Similarly, an AUSA asserted that Task Force Officers were "considered to be employees of the Department [of Justice]" and Mockovak could not depose Carver without the DOJ's permission. CP 1243. The Chief Counsel for the FBI also objected. CP 880, 1246-50. He suggested that Mockovak make a written request for permission to depose Carver, and predicted that such a request would be granted. CP 881. Mockovak made such a request. CP 1246-50.⁵ But one month later, another AUSA *denied* the request, stating that "Carver is not authorized by the Department of Justice to testify." CP 1261-62. The record shows that the *only* people who objected to the deposition of Carver were federal public servants.⁶

Detective Carver never said he objected to being deposed. He telephoned Mockovak's counsel to politely notify him that he was not going to appear for the deposition because he was "caught in the middle" between the lawyers. CP 1201. Carver also disclosed that he had "given

⁵ At the same time, Mockovak informed the Superior Court that such a request had been made and that he had been told that it most likely would be granted. CP 875, 882.

⁶ Initially, Detective Carver was perfectly willing to be deposed and to furnish the requested public records in his possession. He telephoned Mockovak's attorney to request a change in the date of the deposition, and counsel rescheduled the deposition. CP 1234-1238. Although the Superior Court granted Mockovak's CR 56(f) motion to continue the hearing on the parties' summary judgment motions so that Carver's deposition could take place (CP 871-77, 1007), the rescheduled deposition never occurred because the USAO refused to permit Carver to appear and testify.

over the papers that he had" to an unidentified attorney. CP 1201.

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- The decision below involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. See *Worthington v. WestNET, supra* and *Kittitas County v. Sky Allphin*, 195 Wn. App. 355, 381 P.3d 1202 (2016), review granted, 2017 WL 363362 (January 4, 2017).
- The decision below involves important questions of constitutional law and conflicts with the decisions in *Printz v. United States*, 521 U.S. 898 (1997); Bond v. United States, 131 S.Ct. 2355 (2011); and United States v. Logue, 412 U.S. 521 (1973).
- The decision below conflicts with this Court's decisions in: Worthington v. WestNET, supra; Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011); Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998); and Concerned Ratepayers v. PUD No. 1, 138 Wn.2d 950, 983 P.2d 635 (1999).
 - 1. This Court should decide the Tenth Amendment issues and reject the contention that a police officer can "consent" to federal control and thereby forfeit a citizen's right to have state law (like the PRA) enforced.

"It is incontestable that the Constitution established a system of 'dual sovereignty." *Printz*, at 918. There are two sovereigns, "one state and one federal, each protected from incursion by the other." *Id.* at 920. "[D]irect[ing] state law enforcement officers to participate, albeit only temporarily, in the administration of a federally enacted regulatory scheme," or "compelling state officers to execute federal laws is unconstitutional." *Id.* at 903-905. *Accord United States v. Logue*, 412 U.S. 521, 529-30 (1973) (federal/state housing agreement "gives the United States no authority to physically supervise the conduct of the jail's employees."); *Randolph v. Donaldson*, 13 U.S. 76, 86 (1815). The same

Tenth Amendment issues have recently arisen in the context of conflict between the federal government and the States over whether State officers must enforce federal immigration laws. It is especially timely for this Court to address the Tenth Amendment limits on federal incursion into a State's sovereign power to guarantee its citizens the ability to know what their State public servants are doing when they participate in a joint federal and state task force.

The Court of Appeals held that Petitioner cannot complain of a Tenth Amendment violation because Detective Carver was a "consenting state officer," unlike the deputy sheriff in *Printz.*⁷ *Op.* at 13-14. According to the court below, Carver did not object to the federal instruction to refuse to comply with the PRA or to disobey the deposition subpoena served upon him.⁸ *Id.* The Court reasoned that so long as an individual police officer does not personally object to a federal order to disobey state laws, there is no Tenth Amendment violation. *Id.*⁹

Relying upon Bond v. United States, 131 S.Ct. 2355 (2011) (Bond

⁷ Sheriff Printz objected to having to help administer a federal gun control law.

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