### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **CLERK'S OFFICE**

3/15/2017 1:38 pm

NO. 94109-2

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL MOCKOVAK,

Petitioner,

٧.

KING COUNTY and KING COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE,

Respondents.

### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

MICHAEL J. SINSKY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W400 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1120

### **

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

### III. ARGUMENT

### A. Discovery Arguments Do Not Warrant Review.

The bulk of Mockovak's petition focuses on the denial of his motion to undertake discovery of Agent Carver. He argues that this denial: (1) violated Tenth Amendment anti-commandeering principles; (2) was unwarranted because Carver was not a federal employee subject to *Touhy* regulations; and (3) was improper because FBI Task Force documents were City records given Carver's status within the Seattle Police Department.

### 1. Review of Tenth Amendment Argument is Not Warranted.

Mockovak's Tenth Amendment argument fundamentally mischaracterizes both the Court of Appeals' decision and the authorities he relies upon. The Court did not hold that Mockovak lacked standing to raise a Tenth Amendment argument. Rather, it rejected his constitutional argument for lack of merit. Mockovak's assertion that the Court's decision conflicts with the standing decision in *Bond v. United States*, 564 U.S. 211 (2011) is incorrect.

Mockovak's effort to suggest conflict with *Bond* on substantive grounds is likewise off the mark. *Bond* simply affirms that an individual may have standing to challenge their criminal

prosecution on Tenth Amendment grounds because federal laws commandeering state government may jeopardize the interests of private citizens as well as the states themselves. *Bond*, 564 U.S. at 222 (individuals as well as states are the beneficiaries of federalism). The decision includes no suggestion whatsoever that the Tenth Amendment precludes states from undertaking consensual arrangements with the federal government.

Likewise, Mockovak inaccurately portrays the Court of Appeals as having ruled that the absence of an individual officer's personal objection to federal standards was sufficient to overcome Tenth Amendment objections, Petition at p. 14; and that "an individual officer had power to consent to a violation of the PRA." Id at p. 16. To the contrary, the Court expressly rejected insinuations that Carver's individualized consent was of such consequence. See e.g. Decision at 16 (Carver did not merely agree to assist but rather acted pursuant to a consensual joint task force arrangement between the United States, Washington and the SPD). In keeping with Lomont v. O'Neill, 285 F.3d 9 (D.C.Cir. 2002), the Court affirmed that no Tenth Amendment conscription of state and local government occurs when officers undertake federal

obligations pursuant to such collaborative arrangements.<sup>6</sup> In these consensual collaborations, state officers are "neither 'impressed,' 'dragooned,' nor made congressional puppets" within the meaning of Tenth Amendment conscription principles articulated in *Printz v. United States*, 521 U.S. 898, 928-29 (1997). Opinion at p. 14.

### 2. Review of *Touhy* Argument is Not Warranted.

Mockovak's *Touhy* argument fundamentally distorts the content of the DOJ's letter to the Court of Appeals regarding Carver's federal employee status. The DOJ did not concede that Carver was not a federal employee, as Mockovak indicates. Petition at p. 21. The DOJ's letter addressed the term "employee" within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. §2105(a) -- and not the meaning of "employee" in the applicable *Touhy* regulation, 28 C.F.R. 16.21(b). For reasons articulated by the Court, the definition of "employee" in that regulation remains valid regardless of how the statutory term "employee" is construed. Because Carver's full time official duties were devoted to federal investigations for which he was under the day to day supervision and control of the FBI, the DOJ determined

(referencing *Lomont's* standing and substantive holdings).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also, United States v. Wakefield, 2009 WL 3335597, at \*6 (W.D. La. Oct. 14, 2009) (No Tenth Amendment violation where state not conscripted to comply with federal requirements) (citation list omitted); West Virginia v. HHS, 145 F.Supp.3d 94, 108-9 (D.D.C. 2015)

that he qualified as an employee under *Touhy* regulations. *See Mayo v. City of Scranton*, 2012 WL 6050551 (M.D.Pa. 2012) (City of Scranton FBI task force officer is "employee" subject to *Touhy* requirements). Well-reasoned justification for the determination Carver was an "employee" subject to federal *Touhy* requirements is set forth in the Court's decision. Opinion at pp. 7-12. Mockovak's strained argument to the contrary does not warrant further review.<sup>7</sup>

## 3. Review Not Warranted for Argument That *Touhy* Restrictions Do Apply Given Carver's Status as a City Police Detective.

For the same reasons, Mockovak cannot justify review of his related argument that *Touhy* restrictions should not apply to Carver discovery because of his Seattle Police Department status. As a federal employee within the meaning of DOJ regulations, discovery of Carver was subject to *Touhy* requirements.

\_ 7

Mockovak's petition also includes a conclusory and nonsensical allegation of conflict with *United States v. Logue*, 412 U.S. 521 (1973). *Logue* addressed whether county jail employees were federal employees for purposes of the Federal Tort Claims Act when, under their particular operating agreement, the United States had no authority to physically supervise their conduct. 412 U.S. at 526 and 530. The case does not decide any constitutional issue; considers an altogether different regulatory framework than that presented here; and, in marked contrast to the FBI's day to day supervision and control of Carver (CP 298, 1277), involved no authority for physical supervision of employees by the federal government. *Id.* 

Mockovak erroneously argues that denial of his discovery demand to Carver conflicts with the broad scope of discovery discussed in Neighborhood Alliance v. Spokane, 172 Wn.2d 702 (2011). Neighborhood Alliance addressed discovery in the context of a case with a wide range of unresolved issues, including questions regarding the adequacy of the agency's search for responsive records, agency motivations and the scope and amount of penalties owing under PRA culpability factors. 172 Wn.2d at 717-19. By contrast, here, there were no search adequacy, motivation or penalty<sup>8</sup> issues remaining. The sole unsettled issue was whether 81 challenged documents were properly redacted on attorney work product grounds. Mockovak has not explained how discovery of Carver would having bearing on that remaining issue. Rejection of Mockovak's discovery demand in this context is in keeping with the well-established principle, affirmed in *Neighborhood Alliance*, that a trial court has discretion to narrow discovery to information relevant

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> RCW 42.56.565 bars inmate PRA penalties absent an agency's bad faith. CP 33-34. Mockovak agrees that no penalties are owing as a result of the redactions at issue. Record of Proceedings at p. 62 ("Mr. Lobsenz: I mean, everything they've said in their brief about penalties was correct. If we couldn't make a showing of bad faith, we're not entitled to penalties and I'm not claiming that we have made such a showing.")

to the issues arising in the particular PRA lawsuit, 172 Wn.2d at 717.

Mockovak incorrectly suggests that Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Worthington v. WestNET*, 182 Wn.2d 500 (2015). Notably, Mockovak did not cite to or make any argument based on *WestNET* in proceedings below. *WestNET* addressed whether a PRA claim could be maintained against a group of agencies that coordinated law enforcement efforts by interlocal agreement. By contrast, here there is no issue presented regarding the FBI task force's amenability to suit. No public records request was made to and no public records claim is raised against the FBI task force. *WestNET* does not purport to consider any PRA exemption or discovery issue presented in this case.

### 4. Discovery Denial Also Rests on Independent Sovereign Immunity Grounds

Finally, review of Mockovak's discovery dispute on any of the foregoing three grounds would not affect the decision to deny his motion to compel discovery of Carver. This is because denial of the discovery motion was also based on independent sovereign immunity grounds for which Mockovak has not sought review. Opinion at p. 19 (Unless the United States waives its immunity, "a state court lacks jurisdiction to compel a federal employee to testify in a state court action to which the United States is not a party...."). Because Mockovak does not set forth a basis for review that would afford the discovery relief he seeks, his petition should be denied. See State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 624 (2006) (RAP 13.4(c)(5) requires a concise statement of the issues presented for review, and RAP 13.7(b) limits review only to those issues properly raised in the petition as directed in RAP 13.4(c)(5)).

#### B. Neither Work Product Argument Justifies Review.

Neither of the two PRA work product exemption issues asserted by Mockovak justifies further review by this Court.

First, Mockovak incorrectly argues that the Court of Appeals misapplied the applicable burden of showing that redacted correspondence between PAO and DOJ attorneys was prepared in anticipation of litigation. On this issue, Mockovak both misstates the Court of Appeals' burden allocation and ignores the overwhelming weight of record evidence that was provided to demonstrate the litigation-based focus of each challenged document. The Court did not impose a burden on Mockovak to disprove work product applicability. It simply held that the context and content of the redacted material itself clearly evidenced that such communications

had been prepared by counsel in anticipation of litigation, and that Mockovak's submittals were insufficient to create any material issue of fact regarding this issue. Opinion at pp. 21-22, 34. *See also* PAO's Appeal Brief at pp. 18-20. This approach follows long-settled PRA/summary judgment principles and in no sense conflicts with review standards specified in *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595 (1998).

Second, Mockovak erroneously suggests a case law conflict that does not exist regarding the Court of Appeals' application of well-established work product waiver principles to PAO communications with DOJ attorneys. Unlike the attorney client privilege, it is only in cases where material is disclosed in a manner inconsistent with keeping it from an adversary that work-product is waived. See e.g., Harris v. Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480, 495 (2004); Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 110 Wn.App. 133, 145 (2002) ("If a party discloses documents to other persons with the intention that an adversary can see the documents, waiver generally results"). None of the contested communications here was made in a manner likely

to result in its disclosure to an adverse party. PAO's Appeal Brief at pp. 21-22. This alone is sufficient to affirm the Court's determination that work product protection was not waived. Opinion at p. 28.

Work product protection to PAO communications with DOJ attorneys in this case is independently justified on related 10 common interest grounds. *Id.* Following initiation of state court prosecution, DOJ counsel continued their active engagement in Mockovak's criminal case. DOJ attorneys played an ongoing, significant role in producing core discovery documents, representing federal witnesses, submitting briefing, and proving argument before the Court regarding discovery of federal documents and witnesses. CP 301-43, 1108-16, 1145-50. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Mockovak's petition targets his waiver argument at communications between PAO and DOJ attorneys. "Mockovak was not arguing that the federal attorneys waived (or "lost") the work product privilege by disclosing documents to the KCPA; he was arguing that the KCPA waived (or "lost") the privilege by disclosing documents to federal attorneys." Petition at p. 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Where, as in this case, only work product (and no attorney client privileged material) is involved, the common interest rule largely overlaps protections that would otherwise apply under ordinary waiver principles. This is because, as noted above, work product waiver is generally limited to disclosures that are inconsistent with keeping protected material from an adversary. Where work product material is shared among parties with a common interest, waiver does not occur because the disclosure to adversaries is unlikely.

"common interest" doctrine protects such confidential communications shared among multiple parties pertaining to their common claim or defense. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 853-54 (2010).

Mockovak's petition misplaces reliance on *Kittitas County v. Sky Allphin*, 195 Wn.App. 355 (2016). *Sky Alphin*'s broad common interest understanding is clearly supportive of the narrowly focused common interest discussion of this case. To be sure, the identity of interests between PAO and DOJ counsel at issue is significantly more direct, active and integral to ongoing litigation than the relationship between county attorneys and consulting regulatory agency employees in *Sky Allphin*. In any event, while the common interest rule provides clear justification for the protection of work product in this matter, the PAO did not rely on *Sky Allphin* in its briefing below. Nondisclosure in this case is supported on both straightforward waiver principles and application of common interest principles set forth in *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827 (2010).

### IV. CONCLUSION

For reasons set forth above, King County respectfully requests that Mockovak's request for further review be denied.